

FLITWICK TOWN COUNCIL

Minutes of Flitwick Town Council Meeting held on 18th October 2022 at 7:45pm at the Rufus Centre

Present:

Cllr A Snape (Chairman) Cllr C Thompson Cllr I Blazeby Cllr B Meredith-Shaw Cllr R Shaw Cllr P Earles Cllr A Lutley Cllr J Daly Cllr J Daly Cllr J Roberts Cllr D Toinko

Also present: Mike Thorn – Interim Corporate Services Manager (CSM) Stacie Lockey - Environmental Services Manager (ESM)

Members of the public -

5286. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received and approved from Councillors Roberts – Work Commitment, Dan – Jet lag, Mackey – Private matter, Cllr Daly who is not well and may join remotely and Gomm.

5287. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive Statutory Declarations of Interests from Members in relation to:

- (a) Disclosable Pecuniary interests in any agenda item None declared.
- (b) Non-Pecuniary interests in any agenda item None declared.

5288. TOWN MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Town Mayor attended the following events:

A fundraising dinner in Biggleswade. Festival of older people at the Rufus Centre. Houghton Regis Civic Reception. Flitwick Civic Service, with thanks to Councillors Thompson, Platt and Lutley for their support. A coffee morning at Leighton Linslade.

5289. <u>REPORTS FROM WARD MEMBERS</u>

Cllr Bunyan informed members that the Mayor and the Town Clerk had received an invitation to join the Steppingley Road forum, to keep up to date with progress.

Cllr Bunyan would look into a Street lamp issue on Townfield Road.

Cllr Bunyan asked if the street lighting for the skate park was going ahead and what progress was being made with the Community Fridge.

The Mayor confirmed the lighting was going ahead and the fridge had been ordered.

5290. PUBLIC OPEN SESSION

There were no members of the public present.

5291. INVITED SPEAKER

There was no invited speaker present.

5292. MEMBERS QUESTIONS

Councillor Hodges asked if the loan taken out for 3 Station Road was fixed rate. The Chairman confirmed that it was a fixed rate.

Cllr Badham asked for an update on CCTV the crematorium and the remaining streetlight that was mentioned at the last meeting.

Cllr M Shaw asked if their would be an update on the working group who met to discuss 3 Station Road frontage. Cllr Badham confirmed there would be.

Cllr M Shaw asked a question about the nature park and was advised to take this up with Communities.

Cllr R Shaw asked if there was any update on CBC taking up the graveyard and future burials. The Chairman informed Councillor R Shaw it was on the agenda for the next Joint Committee.

Cllr Hodges informed members that he had still not received his bill from the staff barbecue.

5293. MINUTES AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF MEETINGS

a. Members were asked to receive and approve the minutes of the Town Council Meeting held, on **Tuesday 27th September 2022**, this meeting was held at the Rufus Centre.

Subject to amendments to minute 9278 public opens session, Mr Duncan Round Addressed members.

Minute 9284 amend to say Flitwick Town Square.

Minute 9281 to say raised 3 questions.

Minute 9281 a) to change the beginning of the paragraph from A.

To add Councillor Lutley to the attendance list.

a. Members were asked to receive and consider **resolutions and recommendations** of the Corporate Services Meeting, held on **Tuesday 27th September 2022**, this meeting was held at The Rufus Centre.

2 Council/18102022

It was **<u>Resolved</u>** to note this item.

b. Members were asked to receive and consider resolutions and recommendations of the Community Services Committee Meeting, held on Tuesday 4th October 2022, this meeting was held at The Rufus Centre.

It was **<u>Resolved</u>** to note this item.

 Members were asked to receive and consider resolutions and recommendations of the Business Improvement & Development Board Meeting, held on Tuesday 11th October 2022, this meeting is held at The Rufus Centre.

Subject to a typo correction on b) it was **<u>Resolved</u>** to note this item.

5294. MATTERS ARISING

a. Minutes of the Town Council Meeting held on Tuesday 27th September 2022.

Cllr Blazeby wished to raised two points under Exempt.

b. For members to receive any updates from Officers.

No updates were received.

5295. ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION

a. <u>Council & Committee Minutes</u>

Members were asked to consider a proposal from Councillor Badham. The Town Clerk has prepared and attached a report.

b. <u>Planning Improvement Group – Co-Option Report</u>

Members were asked to consider a report from the Planning Improvement Group.

Cllr Gleave pointed out that a correction was required in the report relating to naming an individual and asked Council to formally Co-Opt Nig Dugard, Judy Martin, Tamara Goodyear, Jane Callan, and Robert Wilsmore onto the Planning Improvement Working Group.

It was **<u>Resolved</u>** to Co-Opt Nig Dugard, Judy Martin, Tamara Goodyear, Jane Callan and Robert Wilsmore onto the Planning Improvement Working Group.

a. <u>Standing Committees</u>

Members were asked to consider appointing a councillor to the Corporate Services Committee follow the mayor's resignation from the committee.

The Chairman asked members to consider appointing Councillor Daly to the Corporate services Committee, there were no other nominations.

It was **<u>Resolved</u>** to appoint Councillor Daly to the Corporate Services Committee.

d. <u>Manor Park – Heritage Tender</u>

Members considered the circulated report.

5296. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

a. <u>Planning – Responses to CBC including Officer Delegated Decisions</u>

Members are asked to note the Planning Responses including Delegated Decisions.

This item was noted.

b. <u>Planning – CBC Decisions</u>

Members are asked to note the CBC Decisions on Planning Applications.

This item was noted.

d. Rolling Capital Fund (RCF)

Members are asked to note the RCF summary circulated.

This item was noted.

e. <u>Cost of Living Crisis – Hardship Grant Application</u>

Members are asked to note the Hardship Grant Application is live. The Hardship Grant Application form has been shared with local groups and organisations, as well as being promoted on social media and the Flitwick Town Council website. All applications will be considered at the Community Services Meeting in November.

This item was noted.

f. Cost of Living Crisis – Movie Day

The Cost-of-Living Crisis working group held a meeting on Monday 10th October at The Rufus Centre. Following a discussion regarding 'Warm Spaces', the Community Services Manager organised a free 'Movie Day' with films for older people, young children, and families. The movie day will be taking place at The Rufus Centre on Tuesday 25th October, during half term.

Cllr Blazeby raised concern that officers were ignoring sections of the community, single people and couples who don't have children. The it seems to be the same go to groups that we concentrate on and we should be careful about putting definitions into advertising events.

5297. PUBLIC OPEN SESSION

There were no members of the public present.

5298. EXEMPT ITEMS

The following resolution was **moved** that is advisable in the public interest that the public and press are excluded whilst the following exempt item issue is discussed.

Matters arising.

Pursuant to section 1(2) of the public bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 Council **resolved** to exclude the public and press by reason of the confidential nature of the business about to be transacted.



FLITWICK TOWN COUNCIL

Draft Minutes of Flitwick Extra Ordinary Council Meeting held on 1st November 2022 at 7:00 pm at the Rufus Centre

Present: Cllr A Snape (Chairman) Cllr J Dann Cllr J Gleave Cllr I Blazeby Cllr B Meredith-Shaw Cllr R Shaw Cllr A Lutley Cllr J Daly Cllr H Hodges Cllr J Roberts Cllr D Toinko

Also present: Stacie Lockey – Environmental Services Manager Members of the public - 0

5299. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

It was **RESOLVED** to accept apologies from:

Cllr Earles – Funeral Cllr Chacko – Childcare Cllr Badham - Unwell

5300. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive Statutory Declarations of Interests from Members in relation to:

- (a) Disclosable Pecuniary interests in any agenda item none.
- (b) Non-Pecuniary interests in any agenda item none.

The Town Mayor advised that there was no Town Mayors Announcement section on the agenda, however there we two urgent points raised for Members information:

Members were notified that Cllr Badham would be requesting two month's sabbatical leave at the next Town Council meeting.

Members were also notified that the Town Clerk and Deputy Town Clerk were both unwell and that Chairmen would meet with other Senior Officers on Thursday 3rd November to discuss reprioritisation in light of these absences. Members could expect an additional meeting to be called to action any urgent matters.

Cllr Roberts joined the meeting remotely.

5301. PUBLIC OPEN SESSION

There were no members of the public present.

5302. ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION

a. Outdoor PA System

The Chairman advised that there was no supporting paper for this agenda item as the decision on whether to purchase the equipment would not be made until the Community Services Meeting.

It was **RESOLVED** to allocate £1117.58 from the Rolling Capital Fund for an outdoor PA system.

b. Planning Application Land South of Steppingley Road

The Planning Improvement Working group had recommended calling a public meeting to discuss and inform residents of the planning application at Land South of Steppingley Road.

Cllr Shaw asked if there was the possibility of collaborating with the local action group who had already promoted a public meeting for residents in relation to the application. Cllr Gleave felt that it was important for the Council to host a meeting, which would give out information on the application ensuring that residents had information for and against. This approach would empower residents to reach informed decisions about the planning application as opposed to only objecting to it.

Members felt that the Council should engage with residents on this planning application however there was some concern around managing residents' expectations of the Councils role in the process.

It was **RESOLVED** to call a public meeting to discuss and inform residents of the planning application for land South of Steppingley Road before the end of the public consultation period.

5303. EXEMPT ITEM

The following resolution was **moved** that is advisable in the public interest that the public and press are excluded whilst the following exempt item issue was discussed.

6a. – Land Off Steppingley Road.

Pursuant to section 1(2) of the public bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 Council **resolve** to exclude the public and press by reason of the confidential nature of the business about to be transacted.

Recommendations and resolutions of the Community Services Committee 1st November 2022

The Town Council are asked to note the **RESOLUTIONS** and **approve** the **RECOMMENDATIONS** of the Community Services Committee 1st November 2022

1059. <u>MINUTES</u>

It was **<u>RESOLVED</u>** to adopt the minutes of the Community Services meeting held on 4th October 2022 with the following corrections.

Cllr Meredith-Shaw name to be corrected, the + to be added to LGBTQ and instead of Running Quarters the name corrected to Running waters in relation to the Nature Park area.

1061. Hardship Grant Applications

It was **<u>RESOLVED</u>** to issue a Hardship grant for £200 to the Pulloxhill Gymnastic Centre.

It was **<u>RESOLVED</u>** to issue a Hardship grant for £500 to the Ampthill, Woburn & Flitwick Scout Group.

It was **<u>RESOLVED</u>** to issue a Hardship grant for £500 to Flitwick Dolphins Swimming Club.

It was **<u>RESOLVED</u>** to issue a Hardship grant for £150 to Café Connect.

It was **<u>RESOLVED</u>** to issue a Hardship grant for £1500 to Flitwick Combined Charities

1061. Outdoor PA System

It was **<u>RECOMMENDED</u>** to purchase the Outdoor PA equipment allocating the total cost of £1117.58 from the Rolling Capital Fund.

1061. <u>Water Fountain/Dispenser</u>

It was **RECOMMENDED** to:

- 1. Install a water dispenser on the wall of the Hub building (Coniston Road side)
- 2. Purchase option 2 for a total cost of £2597.74 as identified in the supporting papers, allocating £1426.91 from the Rolling Capital Fund and the remaining £1170.83 being funded via Section 106.

1061. It was <u>RECOMMENDED</u> to purchase 7 benches, 2 planters and 4 bins as per option 1 - Metrolinia, for a total cost of £17,701.96. £12,101.96 to be allocated from the Rolling Capital Fund and the remaining costs to be funded via £5,600 section 106 funding.

It was <u>**RECOMMENDED**</u> to purchase a notice board in keeping with the newly installed notice boards around the Town allocating £655.00 from the Rolling Capital Fund.



Report to Town Council on 15th November 2022: Land south of Steppingley Road

Implications of recommendations

Corporate Strategy: There are no direct implications from this report

Finance: There are no direct financial implications from this report.

Equality: No equalities implications have been identified from what is discussed in this report.

Environment: There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report.

Recommendation

That that Council **objects** to the application for the Land south of Steppingley Road on the following grounds (in no particular order):

- The development does not satisfy the tests of presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework, owing to the matters of which it is contrary to the Local Plan set out below;
- The development does not maintain clear boundaries between the site and the north-western and south-western boundaries to protect open countryside views, and is therefore contrary to Policy HA1 of the Local Plan;
- An up-to-date, comprehensive ecological assessment has not been undertaken in support of this application, making this application contrary to Policies EE3 and HA1 of the Local Plan;
- Robust consideration of the cumulative highway impacts of planned growth in Flitwick has not been made in the Transport Assessment, making the application contrary to Policy T1 of the Local Plan;
- The scheme has not demonstrated that it is of a valuable public benefit that overrides the need to protect Grade 2 Agricultural Land, making the application contrary to Policy DC5 of the Local Plan;
- Population growth in Central Bedfordshire in excess of that forecast in the Local Plan means that this application is premature in advance of a review of the Local Plan, which is required as part of Policy SP1a of the Local Plan.

The Town Council also has a number of concerns about the impacts of the development on local services. It also considers that the development is unsustainable given the current and planned infrastructure, and accordingly may be contrary to National Planning Policy Framework Guidance on sustainable development.

In the event that planning permission is granted, the Town Council recommends that the following conditions be associated with the granting of this planning permission. It should be noted that the inclusion of these does not resolve its objection to the application:

- Funding for improvements to local services like healthcare and education not be ring-fenced for infrastructure improvements (e.g. buildings) but also be considered for the provision of additional staff, such as teachers and GPs;
- Funding for improvements to local services like healthcare and education is released upon the commencement of the construction of the site at the very latest, ideally earlier;
- Funding for improvements to local services like healthcare and education is available for 5 years, so that the delivery of these improvements can be accelerated, and with a commitment to deliver such service improvements in advance of site completion;
- A commitment on behalf of the application to plant trees and border planting in a manner that shields the visual impact of the development, and maintaining this vegetation in an acceptable manner for 10 years in a way that boosts biodiversity;
- Any funding provided for improvements to local services like healthcare and education is ringfenced so that it is spent on facilities in Flitwick, with the possible exception of funding for Redborne Upper School;
- An archaeological assessment of the site needs to take place in advance of construction proceeding, and any archaeological findings are preserved for the future interest of local people;
- The Framework Travel Plan, including its funding and the provision of a Travel Plan Coordinator, be secured via a Section 106 Planning Agreement;
- A dedicated walking and cycling route, either through a improvements to footpaths and a segregated cycle track or through a shared use path, be provided from the site to the town centre along Steppingley Road;
- Improvements to the Flitwick Ampthill Milton Keynes bus service along Steppingley Road to every half an hour be funded for a minimum period of 5 years;
- The planned informal crossing of Steppingley Road for pedestrians become a formalised crossing, either through a Pelican or Toucan crossing, with associated speed reduction measures to reduce the approach speeds for traffic approaching the development site from the roundabout with Fordfield Road
- The Town Council is willing to discuss matters concerning the adoption of open spaces and play areas in the site, subject to further discussions, successful completion of funding and legal agreements, and further resolutions of the Town Council.

Background

The PIWG has been tasked with the consideration of, and making recommendations to, Town Council concerning major planning applications. As well as such planning applications within Flitwick, this also considers major applications that are likely to have an impact on the town.

This report concerns the planning application for the development of the site informally known as 'Steppingley Road,' but formally known Land south of Steppingley Road, Flitwick. Councillors can view the application documents online on the <u>Central Beds Planning Portal</u>, citing planning application reference CB/22/04108/FULL.

In contrast to previous applications, the Planning Improvement Working Group has taken a more methodical approach to reviewing this application, gathering evidence associated with it, and engaging with interested parties.

This process has involved the following:

- Considering the evidence of the application over 5 separate sessions of the PIWG;
- Holding two meetings with representatives of the Flitwick Local Action Group (FLAG), being an introductory session on 13th October 2022, and a question and answer session on 2nd November 2022;
- Holding a meeting and question and answer session with the applicants planning representatives on 3rd November 2022;
- Holding a question and answer session with the Central Bedfordshire Council case officer on 8th November 2022.

It should be noted that the Town Council itself also received a briefing from the applicant on the development in May, prior to the establishment of the PIWG. Whilst a number of suggestions were made by Town Councillors during that briefing, it needs to be stressed that at no point was any indication given by Town Councillors as to whether the Town Council would support or oppose the development. Stating that this would only be a decision that could be made by Town Council. These suggestions primarily related to making improvements to highways, and improving the performance of the site in terms of biodiversity such as bat boxes.

There was an intention to hold a public meeting for this application, following the Town Council resolution on this matter at the meeting of the Extraordinary Town Council on 1st November. The intention was to make residents aware of the application, but crucially to hear the arguments on the application from all side – the developer, FLAG, and Central Bedfordshire Council. The intention being to inform the public, as opposed to taking a particular side. In the end, the developer and Central Bedfordshire Council did not commit to taking part, and the PIWG agreed that with this in mind that a public meeting should not proceed. In light of this, members of the public have been encouraged to submit their comments through social media posts, leaflets in the Rufus Centre and the Library, and posters on each poster board throughout the town.

It should also be noted that one member of the PIWG is an active member of FLAG. Additionally, the Chair of the PIWG has also attended FLAG meetings, and assisted the group in getting itself established. The advice received from the clerk at the time was that so long as this activity is declared as a non-pecuniary interest, this is not an issue. Both the Chair and the member of the PIWG have been reminded of the remit of the group to be objective in its assessment of the application, and agreed to carry out that duty in the assessment of this application. This information has been included here for transparency.

It should be stressed that this report, and the recommendations contained within it, are the considered opinion of the PIWG. During the discussions within the group, a number of arguments were put forward both in favour of the development and against it. This report reflects the agreed position of the group following these discussions.

Finally, this application has generated significant local interest from the residents of Flitwick. The PIWG has noted the matters raised by local residents in its deliberations, but in line with the Planning Guide has reviewed and determined its view on the application based on the applications own merits.

The proposals

The planned development is for 200 homes on Land South of Steppingley Road, opposite the Leisure Centre and the retirement village currently under construction. The description of the planning application is as so:

Erection of 200 dwellings, including new access roads, landscaping, open space, SuDs¹ attenuation and associated infrastructure and engineering works.

The overview map, which also gives an indication of the sites location, is shown in Figure 1.

Matters for consideration

The PIWG focussed its discussions and consideration of the development on several key issues identified through the planning application documents, and through its own knowledge of the site and its surroundings. These discussions are summarised as follows.

Principle of development, housing allocation, and green belt

¹ Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems

The application site is designated as an allocated housing site in <u>the Central Bedfordshire Local</u> <u>Plan</u>, as site reference HAS17 (Land South West of Steppingley Road), which provides an allocation for up to 216 dwellings on the site as part of growth plans for Central Bedfordshire. To particular policies of the Local Plan are relevant to establishing the principle of development on the site. These being Policy SP1: Growth Strategy and Policy HA1: Small and Medium Allocations. These policies are reproduced here in full.



Figure 1 - Overview map

Policy SP1: Growth Strategy

A minimum of 39,350 homes, and approximately 24,000 new jobs will be delivered in Central Bedfordshire over the period 2015 to 2035. Of the 39,350 homes, this includes around 27,696 homes which are already planned for or built, as well as 7,350 homes to be delivered by 2031 to meet unmet housing need arising from Luton.

In order to accommodate the growth required up to 2035 in a sustainable and controlled manner, growth will be distributed throughout Central Bedfordshire, including on land currently designated as Green Belt. Green Belt boundaries will be redrawn for a small number of sites where a strong case can be made that they meet the exceptional circumstances tests for removal and allocation for housing.

- 1. New homes and jobs will be delivered via a combination of strategic and small medium scale allocations throughout Central Bedfordshire. Strategic allocations will be made at the following locations:
 - a. North of Luton (Town Extension) approximately 3,600 homes and 7ha employment land
 - b. Sundon Rail Freight Interchange (RFI) (Strategic Employment Area) 45ha
 - c. Marston Valley (New Villages) 5,000 homes and 30ha employment land
 - d. Marston Gate (Strategic Employment Area) 35 ha

- e. East of Arlesey (Town Extension) 2,000 homes
- f. East of Biggleswade (New Village) 1,500 homes and 2ha employment land
- g. Holme Farm, Biggleswade (Employment Area) 78ha, including approximately 25ha of mixed B2, B8 and E(g) uses and 38ha of B8 strategic floorspace
- 2. In addition, the unmet housing needs of 7,350 homes arising from Luton will be delivered by 2031 through a combination of the following sites:
 - a. (SC1) North Houghton Regis (1&2)
 - b. (SA1) North of Luton
 - c. (HAS05) Land East of Barton le Clay
 - d. (HAS07) Caddington Park, Caddington
 - e. (HAS14) Land off Eaton Park
 - f. (HAS17) Land South West of Steppingley Road, Flitwick
 - g. (HAS18) Site adj. to Flitwick Garden Allotments off Steppingley Road
 - h. (HAS19) Land at Upper Gravenhurst/The Pyghtle
 - i. (HAS20) Land West of the Midland Mainline Railway, Harlington
 - j. (HAS21) Land West of Sundon Road, Harlington
 - k. (HAS25) Land at Leighton Road, Hockliffe
 - I. (HAS26) A5 Watling Street, Hockliffe
 - m. (HAS28) Bidwell Gospel Hall (Dell Mount)
 - n. (HAS29) Land to the East of Houghton Regis
 - o. (HAS38) Land fronting Silsoe Road, Maulden
 - p. (HAS49) Land East of Leighton Road, Toddingtonq. (HAS50) Alma Farm, Toddington.
 - q. (HAS51) Land off Flitwick Road, Westoning
 - r. (HAS52) West View Farm, Westoning

Development will also be brought forward through medium and small-scale extensions to villages and towns throughout Central Bedfordshire (as identified in Policy HA1) and through Neighbourhood Plans.

Planning applications for piecemeal development that prejudices the delivery of allocations set out in this policy will be refused.

Policy HA1: Small and Medium Allocations

Sites identified on the Policies Maps at Appendix 6 and listed in the table below are allocated for residential development. In addition to the general policy requirements of this Local Plan, development of these sites must take full account of the site-specific issues which are identified and set out on a site-by-site basis where relevant.

Within the detail for Policy HA1, the following detail is provided relating specifically to site HAS17.

HAS17	Steppingley	South	Flitwick	40	216	9.00
	Road					

HAS17 Additional Policy Requirements

- Woodland buffer required to north-western and south-western site boundaries to protect open countryside views. This should be of a similar nature to the existing woodland to the south-eastern boundary of the site.
- Due to the sites proximity to Flitwick Wood, particular regard must be paid to Policy EE3: Nature Conservation.
- Site is within an MSA, a Minerals Resource Assessment will be required.

Figure 2 - Detail on HAS17

The overarching point here is that within the Local Plan, the general principle of development of the site is accepted. However, because of the nature of the site additional requirements relating to requiring a woodland buffer to protect views, and a need for the site to pay particular attention to the proximity to Flitwick Wood. Additionally, Policy HA1 states that sites must take full account of site-specific issues when being brought forward for development.

Much comment has been made of this site being a greenfield or green belt site. It is worthwhile noting that this site was removed from the green belt as part of the development of the Local Plan. In the <u>Inspectors Report</u> to the Local Plan, the Planning Inspector gave the following observation:

"Site HAS17 is bounded by development on two sides and is located directly opposite the Flitwick Leisure Centre. Bus stops are adjacent to the site on Steppingley Road, which is one of the primary routes in and out of Flitwick. The town centre is within walking distance and potential future occupants would be able to access services, facilities and the train station on foot or by cycle. The allocation is therefore consistent with the Plan's strategy and will make a significant contribution to meeting housing needs. The Green Belt Study (Stage 3) also concludes that extension of the settlement edge, framed by a belt of new woodland planting, will not have more than a moderate impact on the strength of the Green Belt around the town. Exceptional circumstances therefore exist to justify removing the site from the Green Belt.

There was much discussion within the Group about the relative merits of this argument and its justification for removing the site from the green belt. Particularly relating to the extension of the settlement edge, and concerns about future coalescence of Flitwick and Steppingley. The group has a great deal of sympathy with this position, and to a large part agrees that the development of this site may set a precedence for the further expansion of Flitwick towards Steppingley. But in purely policy and planning process terms, the arguments of the Inspector have been accepted by Central Bedfordshire Council, and the principle of the development of the site is accepted.

Further evidence was also presented by FLAG relating to the Local Plan achieving its targets for population growth. The current Local Plan based its assessment on population projections, as opposed to a now standard methodology of projections of the number of houses. The population of Central Bedfordshire in the 2021 Census was 294,200. The population projections for 2035 under the Strategic Housing Needs Assessment 2017, which underpinned the Local Plan, projects a population of 325,061. Current projections are that population growth is significantly ahead of what was forecast in the evidence underpinning the Local Plan.

Whilst this would appear to indicate that this development may be required for additional housing need from a faster-than-expected growing population, another factor needs to be considered. That is Policy SP1a of the Local Plan, which states:

Policy SP1a: Partial Review of the Local Plan

The Council will commence a Partial Review of the Plan within six months of adoption of the Local Plan 2035.

The Partial Review will investigate, as part of the wider statutory plan-making processes and identify where necessary, opportunities for future growth that can capitalise on any appropriate commitments to improve existing, or provide new, strategic infrastructure.

Following the review, the Plan will be updated, where necessary

The argument of FLAG is that as population is growing faster that anticipated, and that Central Bedfordshire Council has not progressed with the review of the Local Plan within 6 months of its adoption as specified by this policy, there are grounds for the application to be deferred pending this review, if not rejected for the same reason.

The PIWG considers that there is a logic to this argument. A number of factors have affected population growth in Central Bedfordshire, especially during COVID-19, that have resulted in its

acceleration. Moving to defer the application or reject the application on this fact as a planning logic to it, considering that Central Bedfordshire Council is likely to only be progressing the development of a review of the Local Plan in the New Year – well in excess of 6 months since the adoption of the Plan. In light of the evidence on population growth presented, the PIWG considers that this is a material consideration in the determination of this application, and at least grounds to defer its determination.

A final point to consider is the overall sustainability of the site. The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 10 states that for decision making, a presumption in favour of sustainable development means the following:

(c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay; or

(d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

(i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or

(ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

The site itself is contained within the Local Plan, and therefore would appear to satisfy the test of (c). However, such a consideration needs to account for the Local Plan as a whole, and as the rest of this report indicates, the PIWG is not convinced that this test has been satisfied.

Design of the development

The application contains several plans and concept designs for the development. In the Planning Statement and Design and Access Statement, a number of aspects of the design were highlighted. These are summarised here.

- The site access roads will be constructed to provide a 5.5 metre wide carriageway flanked by 2.0 metre wide footways on both sides. Junction radii of 10 metres will be provided for entry and exit to the site from Steppingley Road, as requested by [Central Bedfordshire Council]. The proposed footways on either side of the site access roads will connect into a proposed footway on the south-western side of Steppingley Road, which will in turn connect into the existing footway network.
- The proposed development will comprise 200 units across a developable site area of 5.51 hectares and therefore represents a dwelling density of some 37 dwellings per hectare. The proposed housing mix is 50% three bedroom homes, 24.5% two bedroom, 16% four bedroom, 6.5% one bedroom, and 3% five bedroom².
- The establishment of 5 character areas, to provide a mixed built form for the development in different areas, intending to reflect the local character.
- This proposal provides a variety of landscape uses including a play area (0.295ha), a linear park or green link (0.262ha), a perimeter landscape buffer (1.544ha), 'incidental' public opens space (0.215ha), a pond and shallow slope attenuation basin (0.646ha)
- Traffic calming is provided in the form of ramped tables and speed restraint bends to lower vehicle speeds. A separate network of cycleways and footpaths is also proposed through landscape spaces. The alignment and position of these has been considered with regards to links with the wider network between destinations such as the leisure centre, Flitwick Wood and schools such as Templefield and Woodland;

² The matter of affordable homes is discussed in a separate section

• Vehicle parking has been provided for every dwelling, usually alongside the home, located at the front or within small parking courtyards. Visitor parking has been provided as part of the adoptable highway and dispersed across the development. A total of 480 spaces are provided in total.



Figure 3 - Landscape details in the Green Infrastructure Masterplan for the site



Figure 4 - Movement and Access Plan from the Design and Access Statement

How the development fits into the existing landscape, specifically in relation to providing definitive borders to the site and mitigating the impact of the site on views and on the surrounding area, is considered in greater detail in a separate section of this report. This section considers the internal design of the development from the experience of someone on the site should it be built.

The PIWG notes that the planned amount of green space on the site exceeds Central Bedfordshire Council standards for housing developments, and indeed is one of the better qualities of the development proposals. For those who would be resident on the site, the proposed landscaping, linear parks, informal open spaces, and walking and cycling links could make for a visually attractive development. However, the PIWG notes that there is a lack of detail on many of the building elevations and impact on the topography of the site.

The PIWG also notes that many of the dwellings will have solar panels on the roof from the outset. This is consistent with wider objectives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from new developments, and the use of renewable energy is something that should be actively encouraged.

The PIWG is concerned about the impact of the development on the trees along Steppingley Road. This is an attractive approach into the town, and the planned access roads will involve the removal of a tree on the road, and the construction of the footpath along Steppingley Road will result in new surfacing being laid very close to trees and their roots. The PIWG is concerned about how the impact of this work on maintaining the health of the trees along Steppingley Road, and the lack of details as to required ongoing maintenance of these trees will ensure that this attractive approach into the town is not lost.

It should be noted that as of the time of writing this report, Central Bedfordshire Council's Tree Officers have not raised any objections to the development.

Relationship of the development with the surrounding landscape and maintaining a clear boundary

The impact of the development on the surrounding landscape, and maintaining a clear boundary between the site and surrounding areas is of significant concern to local residents, and to the PIWG. The visual and landscape impacts of development are subject to a fair degree of subjectivity in terms of what constitutes an attractive landscape or development. Regardless of this, the PIWG has a number of concerns about the visual impact of the development, concerns that have not been abated through discussions with Central Bedfordshire Council.

The Landscape and Visual Assessment of the site, provided by the application, places a significant emphasis on the impact of the development being primarily local, with the most significant impacts being on views from properties close to the site. The assessment states that views of the site from Flitwick are diminished by the wooded boundary and the local topography.

As of the time of writing this report, the Central Bedfordshire Council Tree and Landscape Officer has commented as so:

"The tree report shows the majority of the trees being suitable for retention. The trees are on the border of the site and should be retained to ensure the development is in keeping with the local area. The proposed layout appears to retain the majority of the trees. The tree to be removed does not appear to impact the overall area."

In discussion with the PIWG, Central Bedfordshire Council have indicated that there are a number of concerns about the application and its visual impact. The most notable being the lack of detail as to the impacts of the topography of the site on its visual prominence. It should be made clear that it was not implied that this would be a reason to refuse an application, but that this was an outstanding matter between the Council and the developer.

A key consideration is the need to maintain a clear boundary between the site and the northwestern and south-western boundaries to protect open countryside views, as specified in Policy HA1 of the Local Plan and the additional HAS17 Additional Policy Requirements. Despite the planned planting along both these boundaries, the Landscape Assessment indicates that the residual impact of the development on these footpaths and boundaries to be *"Major / Moderate Adverse reducing to Moderate Adverse as planting matures."*

Considering this evidence, the PIWG is not convinced that the application meets the additional policy requirements under Policy HA1, and is therefore contrary to the Local Plan.

The impact of the development on nature and biodiversity

The Net Biodiversity Gain Action Plan prepared for the applicant forecasts a net gain in biodiversity of the site of 7.63% could be achieved through the development proposals and what it is in the Green Infrastructure Masterplan. Putting this development in compliance with Local Plan Policy EE1: Green Infrastructure. Though the plan notes that there is the potential for higher gain, it also notes in the summary that:

"It should be noted that the predicted net-gain in biodiversity is reliant on the successful creation of habitats and management for the foreseeable future. It will be critical to ensure that appropriate management activities are put in place in order to achieve the desired condition of the proposed habitats. It is recommended that measures to ensure the successful creation and long-term management of proposed habitats are outlined in a Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) for the Site."

The baseline assessment of the current biodiversity of the site is based upon a Preliminary Environmental Assessment, combined with a nationally-recognised methodology from the Department for Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) called the Biodiversity Metric. This Preliminary Environmental Assessment is based upon a desktop study of the site, as well as a single field survey taking place over one day.

Whilst there is no evidence to indicate that the survey undertaken was not robust in its delivery, the constraints section of the Preliminary Environmental Assessment does state that a single visit cannot always ascertain the presence or absence of a protected species. Only its potential. Only additional surveys can ascertain whether a particular species is present on the site.

Members of the PIWG have also raised the matter that, through their own recreational use of the footpaths surrounding the site, they have spotted several species of interest using the site. This includes deer, Skylarks, and other ground nesting birds. Although these observations have not been formally recorded in any official capacity.

This combined evidence gives the PIWG doubt that the application is in accordance with Local Plan policies on protecting biodiversity. Whilst the PIWG has no evidence to indicate that the technical work that has been presented is methodologically flawed, it is limited in scope and does not confirm the absence of protected species that have been known to inhabit the site. In particular, the PIWG is of the view that the site may be contrary to Policy EE3 of the Local Plan, which states:

Policy EE3: Nature Conservation

Important habitats and sites of geological and geomorphological interest will be protected, maintained and enhanced.

Up to date, comprehensive ecological surveys undertaken in accordance with industry guidelines and standards will be required to support and inform development proposals that would affect sites for nature conservation, protected species, or species and habitats of principal importance demonstrating development will deliver a net gain.

Development proposals will be permitted where:

- 1. They do not have an adverse effect, either alone or in-combination, on European designated sites, unless they satisfy the requirements of the Habitats Regulations;
- 2. They will not adversely affect SSSIs, NNRs and Roadside Nature Reserves; and
- 3. They are designed to prevent any adverse impact on:
 - a. County Wildlife Sites;
 - b. Local Nature Reserves;
 - c. Local Geological or Geomorphological Sites;
 - d. Protected species; or
 - e. Species and habitats of principal importance.

The assessment of adverse impacts will apply to potentially damaging development proposals that may affect the designated area. It will include the consideration of adverse cumulative effects with other existing or proposed development. Adverse impacts, such as disturbance through increased recreational pressure can result from new development and require mitigation to prevent detrimental impacts to the ecological resource.

It is the view of the PIWG that an up-to-date, comprehensive ecological assessment has not been undertaken in support of this application, and therefore this application is contrary to this policy. This also makes this application contrary to Policy HA1, which under the Additional Policy Documents states that particular regard should be given to this policy.

Transport and traffic impacts

The Transport Assessment that has been provided as part of the development details what the transport impacts of the development are likely to be. In summary, the Transport Assessment concludes that:

- The planned development, whilst increasing traffic flow along Steppingley Road, is unlikely to cause issues in terms of traffic congestion to a degree that is constituent with what National Planning Policy Framework defines as a significant or serious issue;
- The traffic generated by the development is likely to be dispersed, choosing one of three routes: down Steppingley Road towards the Town Centre, along Froghall Road towards the A507, and towards the Millbrook Roundabout;
- There are no significant safety issues on Steppingley Road in the vicinity of the site in terms of the number of recorded slight, serious, or fatal crashes;
- The site is well served by sustainable transport. A bridleway runs along the eastern edge of the site that will be improved, and there is a cycle route nearby along Windmill Road. Additionally, the site is served by an hourly bus towards the town centre, Ampthill, and Milton Keynes, as well as being within 900m walking distance of the railway station;
- The site is some way from local services, with the nearest bus stop being 350m from the site, and the services (doctors, food stores etc.) being located in the town centre.

The Framework Travel Plan contains a list of potential initiatives to encourage sustainable travel to the site. These are primarily about providing information for residents on local bus services and cycle routes, and appointing a Travel Plan Co-ordinator for the site to oversee this promotion. It should be noted in the Transport Assessment, it is stated that the any impacts of the development in terms of traffic could be mitigated by this Travel Plan being successful.

Access to and from the site is provided by two access roads operating as a loop. The original plan was to have a single access point onto the site, but this was rejected by Central Bedfordshire Council on account of this access point would be wider, and necessitate the removal of more trees on Steppingley Road.

Upon reviewing the Transport Assessment and the Travel Plan, the PIWG has a number of concerns about the assessment undertaken and its suitability in mitigating the impacts of the development. The group has particularly referenced Policy T1 of the Local Plan which states:

Policy T1: Mitigation of Transport Impacts on the Network

Travel Plans, Travel Plan Statements and Transport Assessments will be required for any development which meets or exceeds the Gross Floor Area thresholds set out in the Council's Guidance on Travel Plans and Transport Assessment.

It should be demonstrated how the proposal will seek to reduce the need to travel and secure a modal shift towards sustainable forms of transport. This should be through an approach which first considers the ability to cater for walking and cycling, provide suitable public transport services, and make better use of existing highway capacity before considering the provision of additional roads.

Evidence must be provided in Transport Assessments to demonstrate:

- 1. The principles established to give priority to pedestrians and other vulnerable road users in new developments, together with links to local service provision;
- 2. Comprehensive, convenient and safe pedestrian and cycle links to schools, local employment and service provision;
- 3. Connectivity with existing walking and cycling networks; and
- 4. Robust consideration of the cumulative impacts of planned growth, including the crossboundary impacts where appropriate.

Transport Assessments and Travel Plans must demonstrate how the development can be served by public transport services and the frequency of the service.

Where a Travel Plan is in place, the developer and/or user will provide an annual update on their action plan, reporting progress against agreed aims and targets for a minimum of 5 years post occupation.

The Council will require developers to deliver Travel Plan measures as outlined in their approved Travel Plans, particularly in relation to sustainable travel mode share targets and in some cases, will require an up-front financial contribution to be used to fund requisite additional measures/corrective action.

The PIWG is particularly concerned about the lack of consideration given to the 'cumulative impacts of planned growth' and has doubts as to whether the consideration given is robust. Most notably, the traffic modelling, whilst it has indicated that the site has considered the impacts of planned development in the Local Plan, further developments on Steppingley Road appear to have not been considered. Or at least not stated explicitly. The most notable being the Older People's Accommodation currently under construction, and the planned Crematorim.

Both of these developments will, come 2028, add a further 48 two-way car trips along Steppingley Road in the morning peak hour (8am to 9am) and a further 51 two-way car trips along Steppingley Road during the evening peak hour (5pm to 6pm). The details of this cumulative impact is summarised in the following table.

Whilst the Land South of Steppingley Road has a greater impact on Steppingley Road than both the Older People's Accomodation and Crematorium combined, the cumulative impact is significant. And it is the view of the PIWG that this cumulative impact has not been considered, contrary to Local Plan policy. Although it needs to be stated that this impact will be distributed across the network, the developers own Transport Assessment indicates that the One-o-One Roundabout exceeds its capacity on some approaches in 2028, and that the Tesco roundabout is in excess of 90% of its capacity during the peak hours in 2028.

Table 1 - Cumulative impact of planned developments along Steppingley Road

	Two-way	car trips
	Morning Peak (8am to 9am)	Evening Peak (5pm to 6pm)
Estimated baseline in 2022 ³	407	322
Older People's		
Accommodation and	+48	+51
Crematorium ⁴		
Land South of Steppingley	+106	+108
Road ⁵	+100	+108
Percentage increase resulting	+38%	+49%
from all development	+3078	+4976
Percentage increase resulting		
from Land South of	+26%	+33%
Steppingley Road only		

The Framework Travel Plan itself has been identified by the developer as the main means by which the traffic impact of the development will be mitigated. Commitment to these is usually secured through a Section 106 Planning Obligation, and it is concerning that under the draft terms of the Section 106 agreement, the Travel Plan has not been committed to. If the impacts of this development are to be mitigated, and the commitment to sustainable travel is to be compliant with Policy T1, then it must be included as part of the Section 106 Agreement.

A number of concerns have been raised regarding highways safety. The internal road layout and the access points onto Steppingley Road have been designed to the latest highways design standards. The analysis provided by the applicant concerns itself with the number of collisions associated with Slight Injuries, Serious Injuries, and Fatalities. This is in line with best practice for Transport Assessments.

The PIWG has a number of concerns about the safety impact on the highway of this scheme. Of particular concern is the 85th percentile approach speed to the site is in excess of the speed limit of 30mph. Whilst the access junctions have been designed with the higher speeds in mind, an uncontrolled pedestrian crossing is planned outside the site to access the Leisure Centre. Without remediation measures, e.g. chicanes, this can pose a significant safety risk to pedestrians crossing Steppingley Road from this development. Additionally, the width of Steppingley Road, which is below the current best practice width for roads of this type as specified in best practice guidance, is of concern. We would expect that a full Road Safety Audit is needed to understand these issues in more detail, and recommend remediation measures.

The remaining points on transport that the PIWG discussed are primarily concerning opportunities missed by this development, as opposed to anything that is strictly against planning policies. Most notable are the following:

- Improvements to the current hourly bus service between Flitwick, Ampthill, and Milton Keynes that runs along Steppingley Road, with a financial contribution to boost services to at least every 30 minutes;
- Provision of a dedicated cycle track or shared used cycle path along Steppingley Road towards the railway station, providing a safe and convenient route to cycle along this busy road;
- Have every single car parking space fitted with electric vehicle charging infrastructure, in a manner consistent with the emerging Supplementary Planning Document on electric vehicle charging recently consulted upon by Central Bedfordshire Council.

³ Based the average of a 7-day traffic count provided in the application's Transport Assessment

⁴ Based on data provided as part of the Transport Assessments of both applications

⁵ Based on data provided as part of the Transport Assessment for the application

The impact on local services

A matter that the PIWG discussed at length was the impacts of this application on local services, specifically Doctors Surgeries, Dentists, and Local Schools. The PIWG notes that no assessment has been undertaken of the impact of the development on such facilities. However, as part of the Section 106 Heads of Terms contributions towards these services are being offered by the developer of the site, subject to negotiation. This is standard planning practice in most major developments.

As of the time of writing this report, the NHS through the Bedfordshire, Luton, and Milton Keynes Integrated Care Board has requested a contribution towards improving local healthcare facilities should the development go ahead. This is for a total of £476,600 for infrastructure improvements, broken down as £150,600 for GPs, £277,100 for 'acute' services (i.e. hospitals), £22,820 for community services, and £26,080 for mental health services. In their comments, the Integrated Care Board states:

"This application will result in circa 480 additional patient registrations and create a constraint that will require premises reconfiguration, extension or even re-location to create additional clinical capacity.

For this reason, in order to make this development acceptable to NHS commissioners, it is requested that a contribution is made towards Flitwick premises reconfiguration, extension or even re-location to create additional clinical capacity. In addition, the ICB is working with Central Bedfordshire Council regarding a proposed integrated health and care facility in the West Mid Beds area, including mental health and community services and some outreach specialist services from local hospitals, delivering care locally and reducing referrals into hospitals, supporting the delivery of the NHS long term plan. We would therefore request a health contribution towards one or both of these two projects."

No similar comments have been provided by the Local Education Authority.

In its evidence gathering to support this response, the PIWG was particularly concerned about access to Doctors services and schools. For doctors, <u>evidence from the Nuffield Trust in 2021</u> shows that the NHS Bedfordshire, Luton, and Milton Keynes CCG has 2093 patients per doctor, one of the highest rates in the country. The <u>number of patients registered at Highlands Surgery in</u> <u>October 2022</u> was 13,462, with 8 GPs registered at the practice, with up to 4 available at any time.

This gives an indication that current NHS practices in Flitwick are very busy, to the point where it is difficult to book appointments. The understanding of the PIWG is that a key reason for this is the lack of available GPs and staffing issues, as opposed the physical capacity of the building. Something that the evidence indicates towards.

For the local schools, the breakdown of the number of pupils and the capacity at each of the local schools is given below, sources from the <u>Get Information on Schools service</u> provided by the Department for Education and Skills. This evidence indicates that with the exception of one school, the majority of local schools are highly utilised, including the 3 schools closest to the site (Templefield, Woodland, and Redborne), with this development likely to place further pressures on capacity.

	Current pupils on roll	Estimated capacity	Current utilisation
Flitwick Lower School	309	350	88%
Kingsmoor Lower School	178	270	66%
Templefield Lower School	286	300	95%
Woodland Middle Academy	660	720	92%
Redborne Upper School	1418	1636	87%

Table 2 - Current use and capacity of local schools

The PIWG considers that the concerns around the impacts on local services is well-founded given the evidence of current utilisation of healthcare and education services. A pressure that is likely to increase as a result of this development, as evidenced by the response of the NHS. It is noted that no significant assessment of the application's impact on local services has been undertaken.

Standard practice in planning is that capacity issues are overcome through the provision of a Section 106 contribution. The PIWG's engagement with Central Bedfordshire Council has indicated that a standard time period of up to 10 years for the spending of this funding is common, although various 'trigger points' for the provision of contributions.

The PIWG has very serious concerns about the impacts of this development on local services, which the evidence has indicated are busy and close to capacity. This concern needs to be expressed in the strongest possible terms to Central Bedfordshire Council, however the PIWG was unable to form a view as to whether this is directly contradictory to Local Plan policy. It is common in planning applications that the impacts of developments are mitigated by way of a Section 106 contribution. Should this application be approved, the PIWG strongly recommends that the following conditions be added to the funds that are released:

- Funding not be ring-fenced for infrastructure improvements (e.g. buildings) but also be considered for the provision of additional staff, such as teachers and GPs;
- Funding for these improvements is released upon the commencement of the construction of the site at the very latest, ideally earlier;
- Funding of these improvements is available for 5 years, so that the delivery of these
 improvements can be accelerated, and with a commitment to deliver such service
 improvements in advance of site completion;
- Any funding provided for such improvements is ring-fenced so that it is spent on facilities in Flitwick, with the possible exception of funding for Redborne Upper School

The loss of agricultural land

The PIWG discussed concerns about the loss of high quality agricultural land. There is evidence that the land has been in production of wheat and similar crops for several years, and the loss of farming land is a concern. Of relevance here is Policy DC5 of the Local Plan which states:

Policy DC5: Agricultural Land

Development that would result in the significant loss of Grades 2 and 3a agricultural land will only be permitted where; it can be demonstrated that the location of the proposed development is necessary in order to provide a scheme that is of a valuable public benefit that overrides the need to protect the land. Any development within these areas will need to be supported by an Agricultural Land Classification Assessment.

This application is on Grade 2 Agricultural Land (Very Good) <u>according to maps published in 2010</u> by <u>Natural England</u>. The question therefore becomes whether this constitutes a significant loss of Grade 2 agricultural land, and whether it has been demonstrated that the location of the proposed development is necessary to provide a scheme that is of a valuable public benefit.

For the former point, this site will result in the loss of quality agricultural land. However, during its deliberations the PIWG was unable to determine whether this a significant loss of agricultural land in the context of Flitwick and the surrounding area. It is a significant development site, but there are a number of areas surrounding Flitwick that are of Grade 2 and Grade 3 quality.

The question of the location of the proposed development being necessary is complicated by the fact that this an allocated development site. So an argument can be made in planning terms that the public benefit of this site has been demonstrated through its adoption as part of the Local Plan. To the PIWG, this is a case of two policies working in opposing ways to one another.

From the review of the documents sent alongside the application, the public benefit argument of the application has not been clearly articulated, even if the PIWG understands the principle of providing new homes locally. Furthermore, no assessment has been provided of the impact Agricultural Land Classification Assessment has been provided that the PIWG is aware of. This would make this development contrary to this policy.

Impact on archaeology

No archaeological assessment has accompanied the application, and no reasons have been put forward by the applicant for this. FLAG raised the matter with the PIWG that this site is likely to have been on a historic Roman Road, although the PIWG has not had the opportunity to investigate this in greater detail. What is known is that the site was the crash site of an RAF Mosquito XVII plane on February 24th 1945, that claimed the lives of Sergeants Jacques L Bonnewit and John Muncaster.

The PIWG would expect that an archaeological assessment be undertaken, ideally prior to the granting of planning permission, but certainly prior to construction of the site. Any archaeological finds should also then be made available for the viewing and enjoyment of the local people.

Contribution towards older people's accommodation

Whilst a Older People's Accommodation is under construction immediately across the road from the site, there is a requirement under the Local Plan for the site to make a contribution towards older people's accommodation. Policy H3 of the Local Plan states that

Policy H3: Housing for Older People

All development proposals for 100 dwellings or more will be required to provide bungalows, level-access accommodation or low-density flats for older people as part of the mix of housing required by Policy H1, unless an alternative approach can be demonstrated to be more suitable having regard to site suitability or viability constraints.

On larger sites of 300 units or more, the provision of an Extra Care Facility will be required, unless an alternative approach can be demonstrated to be more suitable having regard to site suitability or viability constraints. Extra care schemes will be restricted by S106 to ensure that the occupants are those in need of care and support in perpetuity

In discussions with Central Bedfordshire Council, the PIWG was made aware that the Council had not received details on what plots are level access or designed for older people. Nor has any detail of any alternative approach been identified, potentially making the site non-compliant with this policy.

Upon reviewing the designs and details, the PIWG considers that this may be more a matter of clarity being provided as opposed to specific items being excluded. Some the designs make mention of being designed with accessibility and level access in mind, for example.

Other matters considered by the PIWG

In its deliberation of this application, the PIWG did consider the matter of the likelihood of the development proceeding. It is the remit of the PIWG that it should consider all planning applications on their own merits, but it has also been established to secure the best outcomes from the planning system for Flitwick. So as part of this deliberation, the PIWG has considered the implications should the development proceed.

It is the view of the PIWG that the chances of the development being granted planning permission by Central Bedfordshire Council are far from remote. It is an allocated housing site within the Local Plan. Therefore, it is prudent that specific improvements be requested as part of the development proposals in the event that planning permission be granted.

It needs to be stressed that this does not change the fundamental position of the PIWG that there are material reasons why this application should not be granted planning permission. Nor should our suggestions here be considered as matters that need to be overcome to secure the PIWG's, and potentially the Town Council's, support for the development. These proposed improvements do not overcome these objections, but seek to mitigate the impacts of the development should it proceed.

After due consideration and deliberation, should the development proceed, it is the view of the PIWG that the following improvements be secured:

- Funding for improvements to local services like healthcare and education not be ring-fenced for infrastructure improvements (e.g. buildings) but also be considered for the provision of additional staff, such as teachers and GPs;
- Funding for improvements to local services like healthcare and education is released upon the commencement of the construction of the site at the very latest, ideally earlier;
- Funding for improvements to local services like healthcare and education is available for 5 years, so that the delivery of these improvements can be accelerated, and with a commitment to deliver such service improvements in advance of site completion;
- An archaeological assessment of the site needs to take place in advance of construction proceeding, and any archaeological findings are preserved for the future interest of local people;
- That there is a commitment to ensuring that the development achieves Net Zero carbon emissions, including the installation of solar panels on all buildings (secured by planning condition) and the provision of electric vehicle charging points for each home (secured by planning condition);
- A commitment on behalf of the application to plant trees and border planting in a manner that shields the visual impact of the development, and maintaining this vegetation in an acceptable manner for 10 years in a way that boosts biodiversity;
- Any funding provided for improvements to local services like healthcare and education is ringfenced so that it is spent on facilities in Flitwick, with the possible exception of funding for Redborne Upper School;
- The Framework Travel Plan, including its funding and the provision of a Travel Plan Coordinator, be secured via a Section 106 Planning Agreement;
- A dedicated walking and cycling route, either through a improvements to footpaths and a segregated cycle track or through a shared use path, be provided from the site to the town centre along Steppingley Road;
- Improvements to the Flitwick Ampthill Milton Keynes bus service along Steppingley Road to every half an hour be funded for a minimum period of 5 years;
- The planned informal crossing of Steppingley Road for pedestrians become a formalised crossing, either through a Pelican or Toucan crossing, with associated speed reduction measures to reduce the approach speeds for traffic approaching the development site from the roundabout with Fordfield Road.

Furthermore, there may be the opportunity for the Town Council to formally adopt any open spaces and play areas provided as part of the development, similar to the arrangements for the play area on Beaumont Road. Such a decision to adopt such open spaces would need to be made following further discussions with the developer, including the signature of legal and funding agreements, and in all likelihood a resolution from Town Council. The PIWG recommends that, in the event that the application be approved, the Town Council indicates its willingness to discuss matters relating to open space and play areas on the development site.

Rolling Capital Fund Review 2022-23

(315) Rolling Capital Programme Opening Balance	£	181,783
PLUS RCF Current Year Funding	£	93,784
LESS Year to Date Spending	£	26,933
LESS Committed Spending	£	85,901
(Total Committed Spend 2022/23)		-£
LESS Overspend Funded by Central RCF	£	-
PLUS Overspend Funded by Central RCF	£	15,779
2022/23 RCF Funds Available (Uncommitted)	£	178,512

161,783 93,784 26,933 85,901 -£ 112,834 (2022/23 Budget N/L 5014) Last Updated: 10 November 2022

PROJECT Details				RCF Details						FUNDING Details			1			
Project Code	Project Description	Committee	Minute Ref	RCF Budget Committed	Previous Year's RCF Spend	22/23 RCF Spend to Date	Oversp Funder RCF	d by	Underspend Returned to RCP	RC	CF Commiti Remainin		Additional Project Spend	Funding Received (1177)	Project Budget Remaining	Comments
4212 110	RCF - Nature Park	Community	None	£-	£-	£-	£	-	£-	£	-	0%	£ 1,550	£ 281,835	£ 280,285	No amounts have been committed for this project. \$106 monies remaining: Phase 1 £7,106.89 & Phase 2 £274,728 (CBC to be invoiced for \$106 once works completed). \$L 7/9/22
4215 110	RCF - Flit Valley Walk	Corporate & Community	None	£ 2,000	£ 541	£ 628	£	-	£-	£	831	42%	£ 2,405	£ 2,405	£-	Greensands grant of £2,405 received (1177/110) in addition to stated budget. 22/23 opening bal £1459. Awaiting final expense for leaflets (estimated at £628)
4802 110	RCF - The Hub Refurb	Community	809a 833c	£ 20,000	£ 14,554	£ 1,868	£	-	£ 3,578	£	-	0%		£-	£ -	Underspend to be returned to RCP - Oct 22- RCF COMPLETE
4803 110	RCF - Manor Park Heritage	Community	809c	£ 28,000	£ 175	£-	£	-	£-	£	27,825	99%	£ 4,600	£ 75,885	£ 71,285	S106 Grants monies approved £6,198 (1177/110) in addition to stated budget - rolled forward to 22/23 (jnl 2697). 22/23 Further S106 (Green Infrustrure Planning Obs) monies availabile £69,687.38: 16.10.22
4808 110	RCF - Manor Park Fencing	Community	730e	£ 3,950	£ 3,500	-£ 2,333	£	-	£ 2,783	£	-	0%			£-	21/22 RCF 'rolled forward' budget set at original level of £15,450 without subtracting previous year's spending. Budget adjusted to reflect 21/22 & true balance rolled forward to 22/23 as opening bal £450. * June 22 refund received from RA Cutler for cancelled works added back into RCF. Aug 22 - RCF COMPLETE
4811 110	RCF - Tenant Office Refurb	Business	5152b	£ 16,000	£ 15,418	£-	£	-	£ 582	£	-	0%	£ 4,307	£ 4,307	£-	CBC dilapidation payment of £4,307 received into 1177/110 22/23 opening bal £582. Aug 22- RCF COMPLETE
4814 110	RCF - Town Noticeboards	Corporate	718 a	£ 1,860	£ 921	£ 948	ß £	-	£-	-£	9	0%		£ -	£ -	Negotiated discount of 5%. Spend within 5% accepted variance. Sep 22 - RCF COMPLETE
4819 110	RCF - Flitwick Town Sq Defib	Council	5213d	£ 1,770	£ -	£ -	£	-	£-	£	1,770	100%		£ -	£ -	
4820 110	RCF - Purchase Camera Phone	Corporate	740c	£ 650	£ -	£ 524	£	-	£ 126	£	-	0%		£ -	£ -	RCF rolled forward from 21/22 as camera purchased in April 2022. Aug 22- RCF COMPLETE
4823 110	RCF - Heritage Website	Corporate	753a 5252a)i	£ 3,800	£ -	£ 1,433	£	-	£-	£	2,367	62%		£-	£-	
4824 110	RCF - Rm20 Tenant Office Refurb	Business	1404bi 5252a) ii	£ 4,920	£ -	£ 4,100) £	-	£ 820	£	-	0%		£ -	£ -	Original RCF budget requested included VAT in error. Aug 22- RCF COMPLETE
4825 110	RCF - Ditch & Boundary Works	Community	1000c 5252a) iii	£ 4,900	£ -	£ 4,900) £	-	£-	£	-	0%		£ -	£ -	Aug 22- RCF COMPLETE
4826 110	RCF - Hub & Car Park Lights	Community	1012b	£ 2,605	£ -	£ 2,605	5 £	-	£-	£	-	0%		£ -	£ -	Sep 22- RCF COMPLETE
4827 110	RCF - Environmental Audit	Council	5265c	£ 5,600	£ -	£ -	£	-	£-	£	5,600	100%		£-	£ -	
4828 110	RCF - Skate Park Lighting	Community	1036d	£ 21,705	£ -	£ 12,260) £	-	£ -	£	9,446	44%		£ -	£ -	Partially grant funded. Funding levels to be confirmed
4829 110	RCF - Youth Services	Community	9287	£ 9,780	£ -	£ -	£	-	£ -	£	9,780	100%		£ -	£-	
4830 110	RCF - Steppingley Rd	Corporate	5303	£ 13,000	£ -	£ -	£	-	£ -	£	13,000	100%		£ -	£ -	
4831 110	RCF - Outdoor PA System	Community	5302	£ 1,118	£ -	£ -	£	-	£ -	£	1,118	100%		£ -	£ -	
4832 110	RCF - Water Dispensers	Community	ТВС	£ 1,417	£ -	£ -	£	-	£ -	£	1,417	100%		£ -	£ -	Awaiting Council Resolution
4833 110	RCF - Town Sq Benches/Plant/Bins	Community	ТВС	£ 12,102	£ -	£ -	£	-	£ -	£	12,102	100%		£ 5,600	£ 5,600	Awaiting Council Resolution - additional funding from Community Cohesion S106 funds
4834 110	RCF - Town Sq Noticebards	Community	твс	£ 655	£ -	£ -	£	-	£ -	£	655	100%		£ -	£ -	Awaiting Council Resolution
						£ 26,933	£	-	£ 7,889	£	85,901					

NARRATIVE - October 2022

- Aug 22 4808/110 Manor Park Fencing now complete with £2,783 underspend returned. RCF closed.
- Aug 22 4811/110 Tenant Office Refurb now complete with £582 underspend returned. RCF closed.
- Aug 22 4820/110 Purchase Camera Phone now complete with £126 underspend returned. RCF closed.
- Aug 22 4824/110 Room 20 Tenant Office Refurb now complete with £820 underspend returned. RCF closed.
- Aug 22 4825/110 Ditch & Boundary Works now complete on budget. RCF closed.
- Sep 22 4814/110 Town Noticeboards works now complete. £9 overspend within 5% accepted variance. RCF closed.
- Sep 22 4826/110 Hub & Car Park Lights works now complete on budget. RCF closed.
- Oct 22 4802/110 Hub refurb RCF now complete. Underspend of £3,578 to be returned to RCP. RCF closed.

Please note:

Unspent 22/23 funds will remain in Rolling Capital Programme. Accepted RCF budget variance at 5%. Rolling Capital Fund (RCF) is the amount as yet unspent (Balance Sheet Account 315).

Rolling Capital Fund available is Balance Sheet Account 315 less remaining approved Commitments (N/L 5014 Variance). RCF review has been adjusted to separate grant funding. Please refer to 'YELLOW boxes for RCF remaining balances.

LGBTQ+ Support Service drop-in (Proposal for Flitwick)

LGBT Bedfordshire

The Service Overview

We aim to offer a support service to the LGBTQ+ community. This is funded as part of the BLMK Suicide Prevention Project (in relation to marginalised groups). This will be an inclusive service, providing one day a week in each area for 20 weeks. The service will be delivered as a referral service which signposts customers to relevant services based on need. This will act as a one stop shop LGBTQ+ support service for housing, employment, mental health, physical health, social isolation, drug and alcohol, immigration, sexual health, benefits, online safety etc.

Requirements

We aim to be based in Flitwick one day a week for an initial 20 weeks (Rufus Centre would be ideal). We would like to stick to the same day each week but this could be any day of the week except Monday. There is flexibility around the type of space we use (a standard office would be ideal) as there will be one member of staff present (who will have a laptop and some LGBT signage/promo banner). This would need to be accessible to the public. It would be preferable that there is Wi-Fi access within the room and that the member of staff can park at the venue. The actual drop in aspect of the service is likely to be around 10-3 on the designated day each week – but it would be beneficial for the member of staff to have access of the room from 9-5.

Flitwick Town Council	Calendar of Meetings	Times	Notes
January 2022			Community removed
			due to Christmas
			break and issuing
			agendas.
Tuesday 10th	Business I & DB	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
Tuesday 17th	Town Council	7.45pm	Approve Precept
Tuesday 31st	Corporate Services	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
February 2022			
Tuesday 7th	Community Services	7.45pm	
Tuesday 14th	Business I & D B	7.45pm	
Tuesday 21st	Town Council	7.45pm	
Tuesday 28th	Corporate Services	7.45pm	
		7.45pm	
March 2022			
Tuesday 7th	Community Services	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
Tuesday 14th	Business I & D B	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
Tuesday 21st	Town Council	7.45pm	
<mark>Tuesday 28th</mark>	Corporate Services	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
April 2022			
Tuesday 4th	Community Services	7.45pm	
Tuesday 11th	Business I & D B	7.45pm	
Tuesday 18th	Town Council	7.45pm	
Tuesday 25th	Annual Assembly	7.45pm	7 Clear Days' Notice
Thursday 27th	Corporate Services	7.45pm	(Moved to a Thursday
			due to Annual
			Assembly)
May 2022			
May 2022 Tuesday 2nd	Community Services	7.45pm	
Tuesday 2hd	Community Services Business I & D B		
Tuesday 9th Tuesday 16th		7.45pm	Mayor Making
	Annual Statutory Personnel	7.45pm 7.45pm	
Tuesday 23rd <mark>Tuesday 30th</mark>		7.45pm 7.45pm	
	<mark>Corporate</mark>	<mark>7.45µm</mark>	
June 2022			
<mark>Tuesday 6th</mark>	Community Services	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
Tuesday 13th	Business I & D B	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
Tuesday 20th	Town Council	7.45pm	
<mark>Tuesday 27th</mark>	<mark>Corporate</mark>	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	

July 2022			
Tuesday 4th	Community Services	7.45pm	
Tuesday 11th	Business I & D B	7.45pm	
Tuesday 18th	Council	7.45pm	
Tuesday 25th	Corporate	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
August 2022			
Tuesday 1st	Community Services	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
Tuesday 8th	Business I & D B	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
Tuesday 15th	Council	7.45pm	
Tuesday 22nd	Personnel	7.45pm	
<mark>Tuesday 29th</mark>	<mark>Corporate</mark>	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
September 2022			
Tuesday 5th	Community Services	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	Approve risk register
Tuesday 12th	Business I & D B	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
Tuesday 19th	Town Council	7.45pm	
<mark>Tuesday 26th</mark>	<mark>Corporate</mark>	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
October 2022			
Tuesday 3rd	Community Services	7.45pm	
Tuesday 10th	Business I & D B	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
Tuesday 17th	Town Council	7.45pm	
Tuesday 31st	Corporate	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
November 2022			
Tuesday 7th	Community Services	7.45pm	
Tuesday 14th	Business I & D B	7.45pm	Budgets
Tuesday 21st	Town Council	7.45pm	
<mark>Tuesday 28th</mark>	<mark>Corporate</mark>	<mark>7.45pm</mark>	
December 2022			
Tuesday 5th	Community Services	7.45pm	
Tuesday 12th	Business I & D B	7.45pm	
Tuesday 19th	Town Council	7.45pm 7.45pm	
TUESUAY ISUI		7.45pm	

Date :- 07/11/202	22	F Observations or	Page 1 pplications	
Application No	Date Recd	Case Officer	Applicant Name	Location
		Support (Delegate	d Decision) on the following	applications;
22/03967/FUL	11/10/2022	Sarah Fortune	tbc	5 Heron Road Flitwick Beds MK45 1ND
	Proposal :	Part single part two	storey front extension and squa	aring off of an existing rear conservatory.
Obs	servations :	FTC raises NO OBJI	ECTION to this application.	
22/04018/FUL				
	17/10/2022	Katherine Watts	NA	3 Buckingham Mews Flitwick Bedfordshire MK45 1TB
	Proposal :	Proposed single stor floor side extension.	ey rear extension and inserion	of roof light to the rear of the exsiting first
Obs	servations :	FTC raises NO OBJ	ECTION to this application.	
22/04104/FUL				
	24/10/2022	Sarah Fortune	NA	2 Mallham Close Flitwick Beds MK45 1PU
	Proposal :	First floor fron extens	sion.	
Obs	servations :	FTC raises NO OBJ	ECTION to this application.	
Signed			Date	
0	Gregor Mr		200	

Minute Ref

Mon 7 November 2022

District Ref

Page No: 1

' C ' Contrary to District 'CD' Contrary Delegated

' D ' Delegated

' E ' Endorsed by District 'ED' Endorsed Delegated

GRANTED PLANNING PERMISSIONS

E 21/05283/FUL	Approved	4-5 Cowlgrove Parade
E 22/00542/TRE	Approved	25 Vicarage Hill
E 22/02301/VOC	Approved	32 Chapel Road
E 22/02389/FUL	Approved	101 Townfield Road
22/02390/FUL	Approved	73 Kings Road
22/02757/FUL	Approved	39a Dunstable Road
E 22/02829/FUL	Approved	63 Ampthill Road
E 22/03339/FUL	Approved	19 Nene Road
E 22/03638/FUL	Approved	21 Kingfisher Road

REFUSED PLANNING PERMISSIONS

22/02082/FUL

Refused

12 Kestrel Road